FILED
7/14/2017 3:10 PM
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

AUG 10 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

No. 75014-3-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

Davis Wright Tremaine, LLP,

Respondent,

٧.

Frederick Peterson,

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (The Honorable Carol A. Schapira)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA No. 28177 Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA No. 41773 Attorneys for Frederick Peterson, Appellant

WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC 7500 212th Street SW Suite 207 Edmonds, WA 98026 (425) 728-7296

I. INTRODUCTION

May a law firm collect contractual attorney fees from its client for its own efforts in attempting to collect an unreasonable fee? The Respondent ("Law Firm") is not entitled to fees because not only did it expend time on something prohibited by the RPC 1.5(a) (charging an unreasonable fee) and RPC 8.4(a) (attempting to collect an unreasonable fee), it also did not wholly prevail. Review should be granted and the matter remanded with appropriate instructions.

II. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY

Petitioner Fredrick Peterson ("Client") is the Appellant at the Court of Appeals and the Defendant at the trial.

III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

The Client requests the Washington Supreme Court review the Washington State Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion in *Davis*Wright Tremaine, LLC v. Frederick Peterson, No. 75014-3-I (May 1, 2017), (the "Opinion," copy attached hereto).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether the Law Firm was the wholly prevailing party entitled to contractual attorney fees when it attempted to collect an unreasonable fee from the Client.

B. Whether the Client prevailed on a major issue at trial.

- C. Whether the Client was wholly or partially prevailing party at trial.
- D. Whether the trial and appellate court should have determined that neither party was the prevailing party and not have awarded any fees or should have utilized the proportionality approach and awarded fees to both parties and offset the fee awards.
- E. Whether the Law Firm's standard pre-printed form fee agreement was void or unenforceable because it allowed the attorney to charge, and required the Client to pay, for the actual, as opposed to the reasonable, time the Law firm spent on the Client's case.
- F. Whether Law Firm's fee agreement was unenforceable to the extent it charged Client an unreasonable fee for Law Firm's services.
- G. Whether Client raised for the first time on appeal that he should not have to pay the Law firm's invoices unless they were reasonable.
- H. Whether the Lawyer bears the burden to prove that its fee agreement's terms are fair.
- I. Whether the Lawyer has the burden to prove its claimed fees are reasonable.
- J. Whether fee shifting provisions in an agreement between a lawyer and a client are enforceable
- K. Whether the Appellate Court erred in awarding the Law Firm attorney fees on appeal.

L. Whether the Appellate Court erred in not awarding the Client attorney fees on appeal.

V. CASE STATEMENT

For continuity, the relevant facts are included with the arguments.

VI. ARGUMENT

- A. Conflicts with Decisions of this Court.
 - 1. Neither Party was the Prevailing Party

Where both parties prevail on major issues, there can be no prevailing party. "If neither wholly prevails, then the determination of who is a prevailing party depends upon who is the substantially prevailing party, and this question depends upon the extent of the relief afforded the parties." *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 669, 681 (1997). "If both parties have prevailed on major issues, neither qualifies as the prevailing party under the contract." *Am. Nursery Prod., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards*, 115 Wn. 2d 217, 234–35, 797 P.2d 477, 487 (1990). Here, Appellant ("Client") prevailed on his Affirmative Defense No. 8 ("Plaintiff has breached RPC 1.5(a) by charging an unreasonable fee for its services.

¹ This analysis has been adopted by the Court of Appeals Divisions 2 and 3, but there remains confusion between these two Divisions and the "proportionality approach" adopted by Division 1, explained *supra*.

have rendered. Plaintiff's fee request must be limited to a reasonable fee...") CP 13, ¶8.² This was a major issue in this case.

Client paid the Law Firm \$40,817.27, which he thought was a reasonable fee.³ Law Firm claimed Client still owed \$81,630.97.⁴ Client prevailed in proving the remaining fees Law Firm had charged and was attempting to collect were unreasonable. The trial court reduced the Law Firm's \$81,630.97 claim by \$38,587.84 by reducing an associate attorney's time 1/3 due to "duplication...and considerable hours wasted because of inexperience, unproductive claims, or lack of client management." Thus Law Firm was awarded only \$43,043.13 of its claimed \$81,630.97 in unpaid fees.

Without analyzing the Client prevailing in its affirmative defense that Law Firm's claimed unpaid fees were unreasonable, the trial court concluded Law Firm was the wholly prevailing party based on having entered judgment in Law Firm's favor. It then awarded Law Firm \$90,000 for its efforts attempting to collect an unreasonable

² <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, the Law Firm's Opposition to the Client's Summary Judgment Motion (CP 167, In 7-8 "Peterson also seeks to avoid DWT's breach of contract claim by arguing that DWT's fees were unreasonable).

³ CP 486, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, ¶15.

⁴ CP 6, ¶22.

⁵ CP 492, ¶¶40 and 41. For specific examples, see CP 490-91, ¶¶31-36.

⁶ CP 493.

fee from Client.⁷ The Client appealed and raised the issue that the trial court "never analyzed the parties' respective positions and the results achieved in determining who was the prevailing party."⁸

The Court of Appeals in this case did not follow the binding precedent in *American Nurseries* and perpetuated the trial court's error by never considering the fact the Client prevailed on his affirmative defense that the Law Firm's fees were unreasonable. It did so using the same flawed reasoning the trial court used. The Appellate Court affirmed the trial court based solely on the literal language in RCW 4.84.330 that "A 'prevailing party' is 'the party in whose favor final judgment is rendered." It additionally concluded that the Law Firm was entitled to attorney fees on appeal. 10

The analysis required by *American Nurseries*, however, is not that simple.¹¹ In *American Nurseries*, this Court determined that there was a contract between a grower and a purchaser of rootstock and affirmed the direct damages caused by the grower's breach of the contract, but reduced the trial court's total damages

⁷ CP 693

⁸ Opening Brief, Pg. 24

⁹ Opinion (attached), Pg. 11.

¹⁰ Opinion, Pg. 14, f.n. 4.

¹¹ The Washington Supreme Court Case the Appellate Court cited to support its proposition, *Schmidt v. Cornerstone, Inc.*, 115 Wn.2d 148, 164, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990) is qualified and states "A prevailing party is *generally* one who receives a judgment in its favor."

by the incidental and consequential damages because the contract had a valid incidental and consequential damages limitation.¹² It then held "because both parties have prevailed on major issues, neither qualifies as the prevailing party under the contract."

This case is virtually identical to *American Nurseries*. Here, the Law Firm, like the purchaser in *American Nurseries*, received a judgment in its favor, but the Client, like the grower in *American Nurseries*, also prevailed by proving the Law Firm's fee agreement was unenforceable to the extent its fee was unreasonable. Under these circumstances neither party prevailed, and no attorney fees should have been awarded.

By not applying *American Nurseries*, the result shocks. Client rightfully refused to pay Law Firm's unreasonable fees and Law Firm sued. At trial, Client proved the fee agreement was enforceable only to the extent Law Firm's \$81,630.97 claim for unpaid fees was unreasonable (\$38,587.84). Yet Client also had to pay Law Firm \$90,000 in contractual prevailing party attorney fees.

¹² Amer. Nurseries, 115 Wn.2d 217 at 235. ("We uphold the contract between American Nursery Products, Inc. and Indian Wells Orchards and affirm those damages assessed by the trial court under the terms of the contract. We find the exclusionary clause validly excludes incidental and consequential damages and reverse the award by the trial court of those damages.")

Client paid Law Firm \$51,412.16 more than he would have had to had he acquiesced to the unreasonable fees Law Firm charged.

2. The Fee Agreement was Unenforceable Because it Allowed the Law Firm to Violate the Rules of Professional Conduct by Charging an Unreasonable fee.

This Court has long held that attorney fee agreements that violate the RPCs are against public policy and unenforceable. *Valley/50th Ave., L.L.C. v. Stewart*, 159 Wn.2d 736, 743, 153 P.3d 186, 189 (2007), as amended (May 30, 2007) citing *Holmes v. Loveless*, 122 Wn. App. 470-75, 94 P.3d 338 (2004). RPC 1.5(a) is mandatory and states "A lawyer *shall not* make an agreement for, charge or collect an unreasonable fee." Lawyers must continue to adhere to this rule throughout the time the lawyer represents the client. A fee agreement violates RPC 1.5(a) and is unenforceable to the extent a claimed unpaid fee is found to be unreasonable. Here, the trial court found Law Firm's \$81,630.97 claim for unpaid fees was unreasonable. The Client successfully proved the fee agreement was unenforceable, at least to the extent the Law Firm's claimed fees were unreasonable.

¹³ *Holmes*, 122 Wash. App. at 478

¹⁴ Holmes at 481 ("After analyzing the RPC 1.5(a) factors, we agree with the joint venture's contention that the time has been reached when making additional distributions under the agreement would result in an excessive fee"); and 484 ("the 1972 agreement and 1986 addendum are no longer enforceable because the fee would not be reasonable.)

The Law Firm's fee agreement was unenforceable because it violated RPC 1.5(a) by allowing the Law Firm to charge the Client an unreasonable fee. The fee agreement allowed the Law Firm to charge the Client for the *actual*, as opposed to the *reasonable*, time the Law Firm spent on the Client's case. *After the Law Firm began representing the Client*, the Law Firm sent its engagement letter and standard, pre-printed Terms of Service ("TOS") to the Client. The trial court concluded this constituted the Law Firm's fee agreement. The Law Firm's engagement letter stated "the time devoted and the experience of those providing the services will be given the most weight." The trial court found:

The terms of the engagement provided that [The Client] was to pay [the Law Firm] at its normal hourly rates for legal services performed by the [Law Firm's] attorneys¹⁸

In accordance with the [TOS], [the Law Firm] recorded the time each attorney paralegal and document clerk worked on [the Client's] case, and their hourly rate.¹⁹

[The Law Firm's] invoices identified the number of hours worked to the tenth of the hour.²⁰

¹⁵ According to the Law Firm's invoices, it began representing the Client on or before October 5, 2010. CP 212. The Law Firm sent the engagement letter and TOS to the Client on October 14, 2010. CP 200-210; and CP 484, ¶6.

¹⁶ CP 488, ¶22.

¹⁷ CP 201.

¹⁸ CP 484, ¶6.

¹⁹ CP 484, ¶8.

²⁰ CP 486, ¶14.

Nowhere did the trial court find that the Law Firm's fee agreement provided that the Law Firm could only charge for the *reasonable* time the Law Firm spent on the Client's case.

The fee agreement also authorized the Law Firm to charge, and required the Client to pay, for the actual time each timekeeper recorded. The trial court found the fee agreement allowed the Law Firm to charge the Client for the actual time each timekeeper recorded.²¹ There was no finding that the invoices were discounted to reflect only the reasonable time the Law Firm spent working on the Client's case. The trial court also found that the fee agreement required the Client to pay the Law Firm's invoices within 30 days.²²

The Client's Affirmative Defenses included:

- 6. All conditions precedent to bringing this lawsuit were not satisfied or legally excused.
- 8. Plaintiff has breached RPC 1.5(a) by charging an unreasonable fee for its services. Plaintiff cannot collect an unreasonable fee for the services it may have rendered. Plaintiff's fee request must be limited to a reasonable fee and all amounts Plaintiff collected in excess of a reasonable fee must be disgorged to Defendant.

²¹ CP 484, ¶8 ("[The Law Firm] communicated this information [the actual time each timekeeper recorded] to [the Client] when it sent him invoices for legal services performed.) <u>See, also,</u> CP 489, ¶25 ("The Law Firm's] invoices were reasonable in part and *consistent with the terms of their contract.*")

²² CP 484, ¶9.

- 11. The cause of action and fee agreement are void as against public policy because they violate the Washington Rules of Professional Conduct.
- 12. Plaintiff breached a fiduciary duty it owed to Defendant.²³

Despite these affirmative defenses, the trial court strictly enforced the fee agreement's terms, as written, and concluded the Client breached the fee agreement. Despite Law Firm's invoices charging Client for the actual time each timekeeper recorded, which time was found to be unreasonable, ²⁴ the trial court concluded the Client breached the fee agreement because he did not pay the Law Firm's unreasonable invoices. ²⁵ The Client challenged this conclusion on appeal, asserting the fee agreement violated RPC 1.5(a) and was unenforceable; and, in the alternative, that Client could not breach the fee agreement by refusing to pay the Law Firm's invoices all or most of which had an unreasonable fee. ²⁶

The Appellate Court then failed to apply this Court's binding precedent and affirmed the trial court. The Appellate Court's analysis, like the trial court's, was overly simple and did not address whether the fee agreement was unenforceable because it allowed

²³ CP 12-13.

²⁴ The trial court found that all the hours the associate, who performed the vast majority of the work, was unreasonably high and needed to be discounted by 1/3 across the board. CP 491-92, ¶¶32, 34, 35, 40 and 41.
²⁵ CP 489. ¶25.

²⁶ Opening Brief, pps. 17-19; and Motion for Reconsideration, pps. 2-5.

Law Firm to charge Client an unreasonable fee or at least to the extent Law Firm charged an unreasonable fee. The Appellate Court accepted the trial court's finding that Client "was to pay [the Law Firm] at its normal hourly rates for legal services performed by [the Law Firm's] attorneys...' within 30 days of receiving a statement."27 It also concluded the Client breached the fee agreement because it objected to the Law Firm's invoices and tendered an amount less than what the trial court found was a reasonable fee.²⁸

The Appellate Court never addressed Client's argument that the Law Firm's invoices had to be reasonable before Client was contractually obligated to pay. In a footnote, it did state Client waived any argument that Law Firm breached an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing because it was not raised below.²⁹

To the extent this footnote was meant to address the Client's argument that RPC 1.5(a) requires a lawyer's fees to be reasonable before Client must pay, the Appellate Court misunderstood Client's argument and the issues the trial court said it would consider. The Client raised the issue of the RPC's and the Law Firm's fiduciary

Opinion, Pg. 8.
 Opinion, pp. 8-9
 Opinion, Pg.13, f.n.2

duty both in its Affirmative Defenses³⁰ and in pretrial motions, and the trial court said it would consider them at trial:

I'm not willing to say that there won't be any issues raised as to duties under the RPC.

This isn't a malpractice case, this is a plaintiff trying to recover its fees. But the Court is mindful that every contract has a duty of good faith and there are fiduciary responsibilities from an attorney to a client.

So I may not say there's no contract because of this, but the Court will be looking at that. And I think that that is part of the analysis that has to happen. We're not selling tomatoes here, we're selling legal services ... (emphasis added).³¹

The Opinion stated, "at the presentation hearing on entry of the findings of fact and conclusions of law, [the Client] argued the Legal Services Agreement violates RPC 1.5(a) and is void." Therefore this issue was not raised for the first time on appeal, and there was no waiver because the trial court had an opportunity, and in fact did, address the issue before it became an error on appeal.³²

- 3. The Opinion Impermissibly Shifted the Burden of Proof onto the Client.
 - The Appellate Court shifted the burden of proving the fee agreement complied with RPC 1.5(a) onto the Client.

³¹ VRP 17:4-12 (March 24, 2015).

³⁰ See infra. Pg. 9, f.n.23.

³² <u>See Wilcox v. Basehore</u>, 187 Wash. 2d 772, 788, 389 P.3d 531, 540 (2017) for purposes of the appellate waiver rule; and *Washington Fed. Sav. v. Klein*, 177 Wash. App. 22, 29, 311 P.3d 53, 56 (2013) ("an argument neither *pleaded* nor argued to the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.")

Lawyers must prove a fee agreement is fair and reasonable if entered into after an attorney-client relationship is formed. In Albert v. Munter, 33 this Court stated fee agreements entered into with an existing client are void or voidable unless the attorney shows the contract was fair and reasonable. See also Kennedy v. Clausing.34

Despite binding precedent, the Opinion shifted the burden to Client to show the fee agreement was unfair or unreasonable. The Client challenged the fee agreement's fairness and reasonableness in its Affirmative Defenses.³⁵ The Opinion states "The party". asserting an affirmative defense has the burden of proving the defense at trial."36 This impermissibly shifted the burden onto Client to show the fee agreement was unfair or unreasonable.

> b. The Appellate Court shifted the burden of proving the fees were unreasonable onto the Client.

The Appellate Court impermissibly shifted the burden of proving Law Firm's claimed fees were unreasonable in two ways. This Court has held, "The burden is on the plaintiff attorney to prove by a preponderance of the evidence both the services rendered and the

³³ 136 Wash. 164, 175, 239 P.210 (1925) ³⁴ 74 Wash. 2d 483, 491, 445 P.2d 637, 642 (1968)

³⁵ Infra. Pps 8-9, f.n. 20.

³⁶ Opinion, Pg. 11.

reasonable value thereof."³⁷ A reasonable attorney fee cannot be determined merely by reference to the number of hours a law firm bills the client; rather "[o]ther factors, including the reasonableness of the hourly rate and reasonable amount of time required to present the party's case should be considered, and consideration should be given to the type of case involved."³⁸

The overt way the Appellate Court shifted the burden to the Client to establish the Law Firm's claimed fees were unreasonable was by the Opinion stating it is the Client's burden to prove his Affirmative Defenses, ³⁹ and the Client raising the issue as an affirmative defense. ⁴⁰ The Appellate Court and the trial court shifted the burden subtly by holding Client breached the fee agreement because Client paid Law Firm less than what the trial court finally determined was reasonable. The trial court concluded Client breached because he paid the Law Firm, "only \$40,817.27 for its services" (\$43,043,17 less than what the trial court ultimately found

³⁷ Dailey v. Testone, 72 Wn.2d 662, 664, 435 P.2d 24, 25 (1967). <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, Ramey v. Graves, 112 Wash. 88, 91, 191 P. 801, 802 (1920).

³⁸ Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp., 108 Wash. 2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665, 682 (1987). See, also, Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos, 107 Wash. 2d 735, 744, 733 P.2d 208, 212 (1987) implied overruling on other grounds recognized in Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 173 Wash.2d 643, 659, 272 P.3d 802 (2012) ("the determination of what constitutes reasonable attorney fees should not be accomplished solely by reference to the number of hours which the law firm representing the successful plaintiff can bill.")
³⁹ Opinion, Pg. 11

⁴⁰ *Infra*. Pg. 9, f.n.23.

was reasonable, but also \$38,587.84 less than the "\$81,630.97 for legal services rendered" that Law Firm claimed).⁴¹ The Appellate Court affirmed.⁴² This excused Law Firm from charging Client an unreasonable fee by requiring Client to determine a reasonable fee.

This subverts RPC, 1.5(a): "A lawyer *shall not* make an agreement for, *charge* or collect an unreasonable fee." (emphasis added). The trial court found Law Firm charged Client an unreasonable fee. Yet, Law Firm collected \$90,000 from Client for its efforts to collect the unreasonable fee. ⁴³ Therefore Client, who is not a lawyer, must determine and pay a reasonable fee to avoid breach and havint to pay Law Firm prevailing party attorney fees for its efforts attempting to collect its unreasonable fee.

- B. Conflicts with Decisions of the Court of Appeals.
 - 1. Reviewing the Opinion will Allow this Court to Clarify and Harmonize the rule to Determine Who is a Prevailing Party.

There is divergence between the Divisions in determining who is a prevailing party. In 1993, Div. 1 decided *Marassi v. Lau.*⁴⁴ In

⁴² Opinion, Pg. 11.

⁴¹ CP 7, ¶A.

⁴³ This also violates the RPCS. RPC 8.4(a) makes an attempt to violate the RPCs an RPC violation. RPC 1.5(a) makes collecting an unreasonable fee an RPC violation. Together, an attempt to collect an unreasonable fee is an RPC violation.

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