FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/14/2017 3:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREDRICK PETERSON,

Appellant,

No. 94839-9

v.

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respondent.

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Peterson Petition for Review should be denied because it fails to satisfy any basis for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4. He is not entitled to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the trial court's finding of breach of contract and dislikes the consequences flowing from his breach.

Faced with the uphill task of trying to convince this Court to accept review of a straightforward fee dispute, Mr. Peterson attempts to "shock." See Petition at 6. He does so by mischaracterizing the award of less than 100 percent of the fees claimed as a per se violation of the ethical rules. See id. at 1 (alleging violations of RPC 1.5 and 8.4). But Mr. Peterson's assumption that a lodestar fee reduction automatically results in an ethical violation simply does not follow, and indeed no authority is presented. This is hardly surprising. Such a rule would mean that any time a court exercises discretion to reduce a fee request, the request itself would be unethical, and subject the lawyer to disgorgement of the "reasonable" portion of the award, or—as Mr. Peterson seeks here—avoidance or reformation of the underlying fee contract. Such a rule would not further

public policy. It would merely punish a lawyer who has already seen her fees reduced. It is important to note that in this case, Judge Schapira *repeatedly* explained that her lodestar fee reduction should *not* be conflated with an argument that DWT had done something unethical. **See RP 625:11-22, 637:4-638:7, 638:21-639:7, 640:8-14; 644:7-19.

Such a rule would be at odds with the public policy behind prevailing party terms in contracts, which "discourage weak cases, encourage settlements, and restore a wronged party to its original position." *Marassi v. Lau*, 71 Wn. App. 912, 918, 859 P.2d 605 (1993), abrogated on other grounds by Wachovia SBA Lending, Inc. v. Kraft, 165 Wn.2d 481, 200 P.3d 683 (2009). The existing procedure accomplishes both finality and fairness. In contrast, the legal regime proposed by Mr. Peterson would sow confusion, uncertainty, and could even discourage trial courts from making lodestar reductions in order to avoid unintentionally exposing lawyers to claims of unethical conduct on appeal. Lawyers are of course obligated to comply with RPC 1.5 and 8.4, and must act in good faith when evaluating whether a charge is reasonable under the ethical rules. And there are situations where sanctions and/or

⁴ The reduction was largely based on Judge Schapira's belief that a junior DWT attorney—Carly Summers—had spent too much time working on certain tasks. CP 491-92.

attorney discipline are warranted.⁵ But as seen by the record below, this is simply not such a situation. The Court of Appeals got it right.

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1)—This Case Does not Conflict with Decisions of this Court.

1. DWT was the Prevailing Party.

DWT is the prevailing party in this case under existing Washington law because DWT obtained judgment in its favor on its claim for breach of written contract. *See* CP 489, 493; Opinion at 10-11. Mr. Peterson, in contrast, did not prevail on a single issue in the case. He failed in his efforts to avoid the written fee contract; he failed to prove that he was not personally bound by the fee contract (as distinguished from Retaining Walls Northwest, Inc.); he failed to prove that DWT violated the RPCs; and he otherwise failed to prevail—substantially or otherwise—on a single claim, issue, or affirmative defense. CP 488, 489 (Findings and Conclusions); CP 16-17 (Mr. Peterson's SJ Motion).

At best Mr. Peterson helped persuade the trial court to make a lodestar award that was less than the full amount DWT requested. But it is also true that DWT *always* accepted that, if it prevailed on its breach of written contract claim, its recovery would be subject to the trial court's

⁵ See Resp'ts' Br. at 18-22.

lodestar assessment.⁶ DWT therefore received exactly what it asked for in the lawsuit: a judgment for breach of contract, in the amount invoiced, subject however to the trial court's lodestar analysis.⁷ In contrast, Mr. Peterson sought to avoid the fee contract altogether—but failed.

Mr. Peterson's argument that DWT was not the "wholly" prevailing party rests on a demonstrable falsehood. Mr. Peterson did **not**, as he claims, "prevail[] on his Affirmative Defense No. 8 ..." (alleging that DWT breached RPC 1.5(a)). Petition at 3. An affirmative defense is defined as the "defendant's assertion raising new facts and evidence that, if true, will *defeat* the plaintiff's or prosecution's claim ..." Black's Law Dictionary (7th ed. 1999) (emphasis added). Here, Mr. Peterson did not prove that DWT had acted unethically, and his affirmative defense failed. DWT's breach of written contract claim was certainly not "defeated." CP 489.

As a rule, under RCW 4.84.330, the prevailing party is one who receives an affirmative judgment in its favor. *Am. Fed. Savs. & Loan Ass'n v. McCaffrey*, 107 Wn.2d 181, 194-95, 728 P.2d 155 (1986) ("[t]he 'prevailing party' means the party in whose favor a final judgment is

⁶ See, e.g., CP 167-170 (arguing reasonableness of invoiced fees under lodestar rules).

⁷ Of course DWT believed (and believes) that the entire amount invoiced was reasonable, but in light of the deference given to a trial court's factual determinations (especially in the lodestar context), it chose not to appeal the point.

rendered for purposes of awarding attorneys' fees in an action on contract"); see also Schmidt v. Cornerstone Invs., Inc., 115 Wn.2d 148, 164, 795 P.2d 1143 (1990); Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633-34, 934 P.2d 669 (1997); Scoccolo Constr., Inc. v. City of Renton, 158 Wn.2d 506, 521, 145 P.3d 371 (2006). Here, under McCaffrey and other controlling precedent of this Court, DWT is the prevailing party because it received an affirmative judgment in its favor on a contract that provided for an award of attorneys' fees. No exegesis is required on the question of whether DWT "substantially" prevailed. Moreover, "[t]he amount of attorney fees awarded is discretionary and will only be overturned for manifest abuse." Am. Nursery Prods., Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards, 115 Wn.2d 217, 234, 797 P.2d 477 (1990).

The cases relied on by Mr. Peterson do not hold otherwise. *Riss v. Angel* was a complex case involving lot owners who wanted to build a house, and homeowners and a homeowners association who wanted to stop them. 131 Wn.2d at 615-16. The final result was mixed: the homeowners association prevailed on the validity of the covenants and their right to have a say in the details of construction. *Id.* at 633. The plaintiff lot owners prevailed in their argument that they should be allowed to build the house. *Id.* at 634.

The situation in *American Nursery Products* is also inapposite. ⁸ Mr. Peterson cites the case for the unremarkable proposition that neither party prevails when each prevail on major issues. 115 Wn.2d. at 234-35; Petition at 3. In *American Nursery Products*, the court of appeals declined to award attorneys' fees on appeal because it upheld *contract* damages that had been awarded to Indian Wells, while overruling the trial court's award of *incidental and consequential* damages. 115 Wn.2d. at 234-35. This is a far cry from the situation here, where all of the damages awarded to DWT flowed from the finding that Mr. Peterson was in breach of contract, and the amount of those damages has not been disturbed on appeal (or even seriously challenged).

2. The Fee Agreement was Valid and Enforceable.

Mr. Peterson's argument that the fee agreement violates the RPCs fails as a threshold matter because the trial court refused to find unethical conduct, and therefore properly declined to rule in favor of Mr. Peterson on his RPC affirmative defense(s). See infra. The argument also dashes up against additional settled fact. Judge Schapira's Findings and Conclusions specifically found that "DWT's contract with Peterson ... was fair, DWT exerted no undue influence on Peterson ... and the [contract] provided full and fair disclosure of the contract's terms." CP

⁸ Mr. Peterson did not cite or discuss *Am. Nursery Prods.* in his appeal brief.

485 ¶ 10 (emphasis added). Peterson's assertion that the contract terms run afoul of the ethical rules and should be reformed cannot be reconciled with these verities. 10

B. RAP 13.4(b)(2)—This Case Does not Conflict with other Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

This case does not present a conflict between any appellate decisions for the threshold reason that DWT was the "prevailing party" under Supreme Court precedent. However, for the sake of argument, there also is no question that DWT was the "substantially prevailing party."

The fundamental problem with Mr. Peterson's argument, again, is that he did not prevail on any claim, issue, or defense below. To be sure, DWT's fee request was reduced, but it is settled appellate law that a party's failure to receive 100 percent of the claimed amount of damages does not strip them of prevailing party status. See Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co., 36 Wn. App. 762, 773-74, 677 P.2d 773 (1984) (holding that plaintiff was prevailing party because "[defendant] did not

⁹ This fact also defeats Mr. Peterson's "good faith" argument, which he now attempts to conflate with an RPC 1.5 analysis. *See* Petition at 11-12. ¹⁰ The balance of the argument presented by Mr. Peterson in this section is without citation to legal authority, and largely repetitive of the arguments made in his Motion for Reconsideration. The Court is respectfully referred to DWT's Answer to Mr. Peterson's Motion for Reconsideration for further analysis. *See* Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration at 11-13 (addressing waiver and allegation that fee agreement violated the RPCs); 13-17 (public policy supports fee recovery provisions like the one in the contract at issue).

prevail on the contract dispute, except in the sense that damages were not as high as prayed for. A party need not recover its entire claim in order to be considered the prevailing party"); see also Kysar v. Lambert, 76 Wn. App. 470, 493-95, 887 P.2d 431 (1995) (Division 2) (plaintiffs were prevailing parties when they recovered \$28,000 on their original claim of \$32,244); Stott v. Cervantes, 23 Wn. App. 346, 349, 595 P.2d 563 (1979) (Division 3) (recovery of \$3,419 in suit for \$10,000 rendered plaintiffs the prevailing party). Under any rubric, DWT would be the "substantially" prevailing party due to its recovery of more than sixty-eight percent of the amount originally claimed.

In contrast, the cases where a party who obtained judgment in their favor was deemed to not be the prevailing party involve recoveries so insignificant to hardly be considered a recovery at all. *See, e.g., Marine Enters., Inc. v. Sec. Pac. Trading Corp.*, 50 Wn. App. 768, 772, 750 P.2d 1290 (1988) (concluding that plaintiff was not the substantially prevailing party when it "brought suit for \$600,000, lost on all major issues ... and was awarded a net judgment of \$5,701 for services rendered").

Finally, Mr. Peterson's "proportionality" argument, Petition at 16, is inapposite because Mr. Peterson did not prevail on any claims. *See Marassi*, 71 Wn. App. at 918 (holding that proportionality rule applies

where "several distinct and severable breach of contract claims are at issue....").

C. RAP 13.4(b)(4)—This Case Does Not Present a Matter of Substantial Public Interest in Need of Review.

Mr. Peterson's "public interest" argument rests on a false premise: that review is necessary to vindicate a client's right "to be free from undue pressure to pay an unreasonable fee." Petition at 19. The argument has no force in this case because it is settled fact that DWT did *not* subject Mr. Peterson to "undue pressure." CP 485, ¶ 10. Mr. Peterson is subject to a "substantial evidence" standard (as explained *infra*) under which it is not possible to find that DWT improperly pressured Mr. Peterson.

Mr. Peterson's public interest argument also fails because the fee agreement allowed him to dispute DWT's fees without going to court. Specifically, the fee agreement provided that, in the event of a fee dispute, Mr. Peterson had "the right to request arbitration under supervision of the state or county bar associations ... and we [DWT] agree to participate fully in that process." CP 57. However, Mr. Peterson chose not to invoke that right. As Judge Schapira put it, "Mr. Peterson had his own strategy about how he was going to manage this obligation." RP 624:1-3.

The argument also dashes up against Washington case law approving of fee recovery provisions like the one at issue here. Indeed, such provisions are just as likely to benefit clients as lawyers. *See* RCW

4.84.330; *Bogle & Gates, PLLC v. Holly Mountain Res.*, 108 Wn. App 557, 563-64, 32 P.3d 1002 (2001) (fees awarded to purported former client when law firm failed to prove breach of contract). Mr. Peterson simply does not like that he was not a "successful defendant." Petition at 19.

Finally, Mr. Peterson relies on an Illinois case, *Lustig v. Horn*, that has been eviscerated by a more recent case. *See* Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration at 17; *Timothy Whelan Law Assocs. v. Kruppe*, 409 Ill. App. 3d 359, 362, 947 N.E.2d 366 (2011).

D. Mr. Peterson's Arguments Cannot be Reconciled with the Unchallenged Facts Below.

Mr. Peterson once again elides the fact that this is an appeal from a bench trial, and must overcome a "substantial evidence" scope of review.

See Opinion at 7 (citing *Ridgeview Props. v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982)). Mr. Peterson challenged only one finding as lacking substantial evidence, relating to the date he engaged DWT. *Id.* at 7-8. "The other unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal." *Id.*

Mr. Peterson nevertheless attempts to spin a narrative that would require the Court to ignore the trial court's factual findings. *See* Petition at 1 (arguing that DWT violated RPC 1.5(a) and RPC 8.4(a)); *see also* Mot. for Reconsideration at 6, 8. This argument fails because the facts

¹¹ The trial court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment ("Findings and Conclusions") on August 25, 2015. CP 482-493.

necessary to reach such a conclusion directly contradict the facts as determined by the trial court.

As explained above, it is settled fact the underlying fee contract was fair. CP 485 ¶ 10; see also Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration at 4-6. It is therefore not true that Mr. Peterson "prove the fee agreement was unenforceable..." See Petition, pg. 7. It is also not possible to find a violation of the RPCs because Judge Schapira did not find that DWT did anything unethical. CP 482-493. Indeed, she repeatedly rejected Mr. Peterson's requests to find unethical conduct. See, e.g., RP 625:11-12 ("I never said they charged an unethical fee."); see also Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration at 3-4. There is therefore no factual basis to find the DWT violated of RPC 1.5 or 8.4.¹²

E. Mr. Peterson Tries to Raise New Legal Theories.

Mr. Peterson has also waived many of the arguments he would like this Court to address. "Failure to raise an issue before the trial court generally precludes a party from raising it on appeal. This rule affords the trial court the opportunity to rule correctly upon a matter before it can be presented on appeal." *New Meadows Holding Co. v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984) (citation omitted).

¹² Moreover, it would have been improper for the trial court to do so. *See* Resp'ts' Br. at 18-22.

Mr. Peterson's arguments also come too late because he never advised Judge Schapira of her purported "errors." In *Smith v. Shannon*, our Supreme Court explained as follows:

The same [RAP 2.5] rationale requires parties to inform a court acting as a trier of fact of the rules of law they wish the court to apply. While a party has the right to assume the trial court knows and will properly apply the law, this does not excuse failure to seek correction of an error once the complaining party becomes aware of it. If by no other means, this can be done by a motion for a new trial.

100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

Here, Mr. Peterson has previously attempted to shift the blame to Judge Schapira and/or the Court of Appeals for purportedly failing to analyze his affirmative defenses (*see* Petition, pg. 4) and whether the fee agreement was unenforceable (*see* Petition, pg. 10); *see also* Answer to Mot. for Reconsideration at 6-9, 11-13. He now also raises a "burden shifting" argument, ¹³ and claims that the "Appellate Court 'misunderstood'" his earlier positions. Petition at 11. But the arguments fail because Mr. Peterson did not raise the issues earlier. *See, e.g.*, CP 401-407.

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